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William E. Sexton

From: Robert Batsel <RBatsel@lawyersocala.com>
Sent: Thursday, October 17, 2024 10:36 AM
To: William E. Sexton; Peter Lee
Cc: henningj@cf.edu; Christopher Knife (knifec@cf.edu); Tart, Amanda; Schwartz, Thomas; 

Heidi Carlman
Subject: CF Property f/k/a Pioneer Garden Club Premises - Marion County Health Clinic
Attachments: 1182 1142 Deed from City to ACC, Inc..pdf; 1667 579 Release of Restrictive 

Covenant.pdf; 1990 Statutes - Municipal Purpose.pdf

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the 
sender and know the content is safe. 

 
Pete and Will, 
 
Good morning. I have copied President Henningsen, Chris Knife, Amanda Tart, and Tom Schwartz and am writing 
with a quick request concerning the property owned by the College of Central Florida adjacent to the Appleton 
Museum of Art. As you know, we are finalizing a lease with Marion County to utilize the property as an employee 
health clinic. The purpose of my email is to request a quick reply to confirm the City’s agreement that the proposed 
use is permitted pursuant to the restrictive covenants encumbering the property, which include a reversionary 
interest in favor of the City. I am certain this is not an issue but requesting your reply to provide the College and 
County with extra assurance.  
 
The first attachment is the 1983 deed from the City to the Appleton Cultural Center, Inc., which is the College’s 
predecessor in interest. The deed includes conditions / restrictions requiring construction of the museum within 
three years, prohibiting any encumbrance or pledge of the property, and requiring that the property be used solely 
for “municipal purposes.” The next attachment is an is an “Acknowledgement and Release of Restrictive Covenant” 
dated June 25, 1990. This acknowledges compliance and releases the first two of the foregoing 
conditions/covenants but restates the latter requirement that the owner shall only use the property for municipal 
purposes. Finally, I’ve attached an excerpt of then-current Section 166.021, Florida Statutes, defining “municipal 
purpose” as “any activity or power which may be exercised by the state or its political subdivisions.”  
 
We are confident that any use that would be a lawful use within the authority of the College, as a political 
subdivision, would be a “municipal purpose,” including the proposed lease to the County for an employee health 
clinic. Before moving forward, we would appreciate your confirmation on behalf of the City by reply email.  
 
Of course, if you have any questions or would like to discuss, please don’t hesitate to let us know. Thank you, in 
advance.  
 
Best, 
 
Rob 
  
Robert W. Batsel, Jr. 
Gooding & Batsel, PLLC 
1531 Southeast 36th Avenue 
Ocala, Florida 34471 
T: (352) 579-1290 
D: (352) 579-6845 
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F: (352) 579-1289 
Email: rbatsel@lawyersocala.com 
Website: lawyersocala.com 
 
Due to the overwhelming frequency of fraudulent cashier’s checks presented in Florida, our underwriter 
requires all cash to close to be tendered in the form of a wire transfer. OUR WIRE INSTRUCTIONS 
HAVE BEEN OR WILL BE PROVIDED PRIOR TO CLOSING AND MUST BE CONFIRMED BY 
TELEPHONE CALL TO OUR OFFICE AT THE NUMBER STATED ABOVE. PLEASE BE 
ADVISED THAT OUR TRUST ACCOUNT IS HELD BY FIRST FEDERAL BANK. IF YOU 
RECEIVE INSTRUCTIONS TO SEND YOUR WIRE TO ANY OTHER BANK OR INSTRUCTIONS 
THAT ARE DIFFERENT THAN INSTRUCTIONS PREVIOUSLY PROVIDED, THEN THAT 
INSTRUCTION IS THE RESULT OF A COMPUTER HACKING CRIME. IN SUCH CASE, PLEASE 
CONTACT OUR OFFICE BY TELEPHONE IMMEDIATELY. 
 
This email may contain information that is privileged, confidential or otherwise exempt from disclosure under 
applicable law. If it appears from the content or otherwise that you have received this email in error, please advise 
me immediately by reply email, keep the contents confidential, and immediately delete the message and any 
attachments from all memory devices. Unintentional transmission shall not constitute waiver of the attorney-client 
or any other privilege. 
 
Please note: Due to Florida’s very broad public records law, most written communications regarding the business of 
a public entity are considered to be public records, available to the public and media upon request. Therefore, this 
email may be subject to public disclosure. 
  


